

The index of G-transversally elliptic families in cohomology

Alexandre Baldare

▶ To cite this version:

Alexandre Baldare. The index of G-transversally elliptic families in cohomology. Journal of Noncommutative Geometry, 2020, 14 (3), pp.1171-1207. 10.4171/JNCG/390. hal-01873320

HAL Id: hal-01873320

https://hal.science/hal-01873320

Submitted on 13 Sep 2018

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

The index of G-transversally elliptic families in cohomology

Alexandre Baldare*1

 $^1\mathrm{IMAG},$ Univ Montpellier, CNRS, Montpellier, France

July 16, 2018

Abstract

We define the Chern character of the index class of a G-invariant family of G-transversally elliptic operators, see [6]. Next we study the Berline-Vergne formula for families in the elliptic and transversally elliptic case.

 $\textbf{Keywords:} \ \ \textbf{Index}, \ \textbf{transversally elliptic operators}, \ \textbf{equivariant cohomology}, \ \textbf{fibration}.$

MSC2010 classification: 19K56, 19L47, 19L10, 19M05, 55N25.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Some preliminary results	
	2.1 Equivariant cohomology	4
	2.2 Equivariant cohomology with generalised coefficients	
	2.3 Chern character of a morphism[24] $\dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	7
	2.4 The index class of a family of G -transversally elliptic operators	9
	2.5 Index theorem for H -equivariant elliptic families [5]	11
3	The Chern character of the index class	11
	3.1 The Chern character in bivariant local cyclic homology	11
	3.2 Distributional index with value in $H(B)$	
4	Berline-Vergne formula for equivariant families	14
	4.1 Review of the Bismut localization formula	14
	4.2 Delocalized index formulas	
	4.3 An application: The homogeneous case	
	0	

^{*} a lexandre.baldare@umontpellier.fr

5	Ber	line-Vergne formula for a G -transversally elliptic family	21
	5.1	Vertical deformation of the Chern character	21
	5.2	Berline-Vergne formula	22

1 Introduction

Let M be a compact manifold. Let G be a compact group acting on M. Assume for simplicity that G is topologically cyclic and generated by an element $g \in G$. Let $i : M^g \hookrightarrow M$ denote the inclusion of the fixed point submanifold of g. In [2], Atiyah and Segal gave a Lefschetz fixed point formula for the index of a G-invariant elliptic operator on M using localization in equivariant K-theory. Denote by $R(G)_g$ the localization of the ring R(G) at the prime ideal $I_g = \{\chi \in R(G), \chi(g) = 0\}$. Atiyah and Segal obtained

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{G}}^{\mathrm{M}}(\sigma) = \left(\operatorname{Ind}^{\mathrm{Mg}} \otimes id_{R(G)g}\right) \left(\frac{i^*\sigma}{\lambda_{-1}(N^g \otimes \mathbb{C})}\right),$$

where $\lambda_{-1}(N^g \otimes \mathbb{C}) = \sum (-1)^i \wedge^i (N^g \otimes \mathbb{C})$ and $\sigma \in K_G(T^*M)$. In [3], Atiyah and Singer obtained, using the Lefschetz fixed point formula, a cohomological version of the Lefschetz fixed point formula. More precisely, Atiyah and Singer obtained the following formula

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{G}^{M}(\sigma)(g) = (-1)^{n_{g}} \int_{T^{*}M^{g}} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}(i^{*}\sigma(g))}{\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}(N^{g} \otimes \mathbb{C})(g))} \wedge \hat{A}(T^{*}M^{g})^{2},$$

where Ch means the Chern character tensored by the identity of \mathbb{C} and $\hat{A}(T^*M^g)$ is the \hat{A} -genus of M^g .

In [10], Berline and Vergne gave a delocalized formula for the index of a G-invariant elliptic operator in equivariant cohomology. To obtain this new formula, Berline and Vergne showed a localization formula in equivariant cohomology and then used this localization formula to delocalized the cohomological Lefschetz formula. More precisely, Berline and Vergne obtained the following formula

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{G}^{M}(\sigma)(se^{X}) = \int_{TM^{s}} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\sigma, X) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(T^{V}M^{s}, X)}{D_{s}(N_{s}, X)},$$

where $s \in G$, X is an element of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}(s)$ of the centralizer G(s) of s and $\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma, X)$, $\hat{A}^2(T^VM^s, X)$ and $D_s(N_s, X)$ are equivariant cohomology classes (see section 2.1 and [8, 10, 9] for more details). Then in [9], Berline and Vergne gave an index theorem in equivariant cohomology for G-invariant elliptic operators.

For G-transversally elliptic operators, Atiyah and Singer defined in [1] an index class which is now an invariant slowly increasing distribution on G. Similar to the case of elliptic operators,

Berline and Vergne showed a corresponding index theorem for G-transversally elliptic operators, see [11]. In [25], Paradan and Vergne gave a new approach of the cohomological index theorem for G-transversally elliptic operators using the Chern character of [24] but with generalized coefficients on the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G.

In the present article, we investigate the cohomological form of the index of families of G-transversally elliptic operators. Let $p:M\to B$ be a G-equivariant compact fibration. Assume that G acts trivially on B. In [6], an index class for G-invariant families of G-transversally elliptic operators was defined in the Kasparov bivariant K-theory group $KK(C^*G, C(B))$ and using results from [18] it was then shown that the Kasparov product of this index class with an elliptic operator on the base B is given by the index class of a G-transversally elliptic operator on M. Using this fact and the well defined bivariant Chern character in local cyclic homology [26], we introduce the Chern character of our index class and we show, as expected, that it belongs to the space of G-invariant slowly increasing distribution on G with values in the de Rham cohomology of G. Once this Chern character is defined, we investigate the Berline-Vergne formula in this context. As in the case of a single operator, we start by the simpler case of G-invariant families of elliptic operators. In this case, we deduce a Berline-Vergne formula using the Lefschetz formula for families, see [7]. Our formula is also valid when G acts non trivially on G. More precisely, if G and G is a G-invariant elliptic symbol along the fibers then we obtain the following theorem:

Theorem 1.1. Let $s \in G$ and $X \in \mathfrak{g}(s)$. Denote by N_s the normal bundle of M^s in M. The following equality is true in the cohomology $H(B^s, d_X)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma),X\right) = \int_{T^VM^s|B^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma,X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^VM^s,X)}{D_s(N_s \cap T^VM,X)}.$$

where B^s the fixed point submanifold in the base B and T^VM^s is the vertical tangent bundle to the fixed point submanifold M^s .

For families of G-transversally elliptic operators, we had to assume that the action of G on B is trivial and we used the Paradan-Vergne approach of equivariant cohomology with generalized coefficient. In this case we obtain the following theorem:

Theorem 1.2. Let σ be a G-transversally elliptic symbol along the fibers of a compact G-equivariant fibration $p: M \to B$ with B oriented and G-trivial. Denote by N_s the normal vector bundle to M^s in M.

1. There is a unique generalized function with values in the cohomology of B denoted $\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}$: $\operatorname{K}_G(T_G^VM) \to C^{-\infty}(G,H(B))^G$ satisfying the following local relations:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma])||_{s}(Y) = (2i\pi)^{-\dim(M^{s}|B)} \int_{T^{V}M^{s}|B} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\mathbb{A}^{r^{*}\omega_{s}}(\sigma), Y) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(T^{V}M^{s}, Y)}{D_{s}(N^{s}, Y)},$$

 $\forall s \in G, \forall Y \in \mathfrak{g}(s) \text{ small enough so that the equivariant classes } \hat{A}^2(T^VM^s, Y) \text{ and } D(N^s, Y)$ are defined.

2. Furthermore, we have the following index formula:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma]) = \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}([\sigma])) \in C^{-\infty}(G, H(B))^{G}.$$

Here Ch is the Chern character, defined using bivariant local cyclic homology from [26].

Let us describe the contents of the present paper. The second section is devoted to some preliminary results. We recall the definition of the equivariant cohomology which will be used later on, then we review the definition of the index class of a family of G-transversally elliptic operators from [6], and we finish by a overview of the Atiyah-Singer index theorem for equivariant families [5]. In the third section, we define the Chern character of the index class of a G-invariant family of G-transversally elliptic operators, an invariant distribution with values in the de Rham cohomology of the base B. In the fourth and fifth sections, we prove the Berline-Vergne formulae for families of elliptic and G-transversally elliptic operators.

Acknowledgements This work is part of my PhD thesis under the supervision of M.-T. Benameur. I would like to thank my advisor for very helpful discussions, comments and corrections. I also thank W. Liu and P.-E. Paradan for several conversations during the preparation of this work. I am also indebted to M. Hilsum, P. Piazza, M. Puschnigg and G. Skandalis for reading the phD version of this work.

2 Some preliminary results

Let G be a compact group. Let $p: M \to B$ be a G-equivariant (locally trivial) fibration of compact manifolds, with typical fiber F, a compact manifold. We denote by $M_b = p^{-1}(b)$ the fiber over $b \in B$, by $T^V M = \ker p_*$ the vertical subbundle of TM, and by $T^V M^*$ its dual bundle. We choose a G-invariant riemannian metric on M and hence will identify $T^V M^*$ with a subbundle of T^*M when needed. Let $\pi: E = E^+ \oplus E^- \to M$ be a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded vector bundle on M which is assumed to be G-equivariant with fixed G-invariant hermitian structure. Denote by $\mathcal{P}^m(M, E^+, E^-)$ the space of (classical) continuous families of pseudodifferential operators on M as defined in [5]. A family P is G-equivariant if $g \cdot P = g \circ P \circ g^{-1} = P$, for any $g \in G$. As usual, $C^{\infty,0}(M, E)$ will be the space of continuous fiberwise smooth sections of E over M, see [5].

2.1 Equivariant cohomology

Here we recall the definition of equivariant cohomologies and equivariant forms which will be used in the sequel, see [8, 9, 10]. Let L be a compact Lie group and $\mathfrak l$ its Lie algebra. Assume that L acts on a manifold W (we say that W is a L-manifold). Let $X \in \mathfrak l$. Denote by X_W^* the vector field generated by X on W that is $X_W^*(w) = \frac{d}{dt} e^{-tX} \cdot w$. Let d be the de Rham differential and let $\iota(Y)$ denote the contraction by a vector field Y. Let $\mathcal{A}(W)$ be the space of differential form on W. Denote by $\mathcal{A}(W)_X$ the subspace of $\mathcal{A}(W)$ given by the forms α such that $\mathcal{L}(X)\alpha = 0$. Let d_X denote the operator $d - \iota(X_W^*)$ on $\mathcal{A}(W)$.

Definition 2.1. The d_X -cohomology $H(W, d_X)$ of W is the cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}(W)_X, d_X)$.

Let $\mathcal{A}_L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, W)$ denote the algebra $\left(C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}) \otimes \mathcal{A}(W)\right)^L$ of L-invariant smooth functions with values in $\mathcal{A}(W)$. Let $d_{\mathfrak{l}}$ be the operator on $\mathcal{A}_L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, W)$ given by

$$(d_{\mathfrak{l}}\alpha)(X) = d(\alpha(X)) - \iota(X_W^*)(\alpha(X)).$$

We have $(d_{\mathfrak{l}}^{2}\alpha)(X) = -\mathcal{L}(X)\alpha(X)$ so $d_{\mathfrak{l}}^{2}$ is zero on $\mathcal{A}_{L}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)$ because any element of $\mathcal{A}_{L}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)$ is L-invariant.

Definition 2.2. The equivariant cohomology $\mathcal{H}_L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, W)$ with smooth coefficients is the cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}_L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, W), d_{\mathfrak{l}})$.

Let E be a vector bundle on W. Let $\mathcal{A}_L^{\infty}(W, E) = \left(C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}) \otimes \mathcal{A}(W, E)\right)^L$, where $\mathcal{A}(W, E)$ denote the differential form on W, with values in E. Let \mathbb{A} be a L-invariant super-connection on E. The operator $\mathbb{A}_{\mathfrak{l}}$ defined by

$$(\mathbb{A}_{\mathfrak{l}}\alpha)(X) = (\mathbb{A} - \iota(X_W^*))(\alpha(X)), \ \forall \alpha \in \mathcal{A}(W, E) \text{ and } X \in \mathfrak{l},$$

is called the equivariant super-connection. The equivariant curvature $F_{\mathfrak{l}}$ is given by $F_{\mathfrak{l}}(X) = (\mathbb{A} - \iota(X))^2 + \mathscr{L}^E(X)$. Denote by $\mu(X) = \mathscr{L}(X) - [\iota(X), \mathbb{A}]$ the moment of $X \in \mathfrak{l}$ with respect to the super-connection \mathbb{A} . Then we have $F_{\mathfrak{l}}(X) = F + \mu(X)$, where F is the curvature of \mathbb{A} . Let us recall some equivariant forms. Denote by W^s the submanifold of fixed points $\{w \in W | s \cdot w = w\}$. Denote by L(s) the subgroup of L of those elements that commute with s. We denote by $\mathfrak{l}(s)$ the Lie algebra of L(s), it consists of the elements $X \in \mathfrak{l}$ such that $s \cdot X = X$.

Definition 2.3. Let $s \in L$. On the submanifold W^s of fixed points of s, the action of s on $E_{|W^s}$ preserves the fibers. The s-equivariant Chern character of an L-invariant super-connection \mathbb{A} is defined by:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}, X) = \operatorname{Str}\left(s^E \cdot e^{-F_{\mathfrak{l}}(X)_{|W^s}}\right) \in \mathcal{A}^{\infty}_{L(s)}(\mathfrak{l}(s), W^s),$$

where $F_{\mathfrak{l}}$ is the equivariant curvature of \mathbb{A} and $X \in \mathfrak{l}$.

Definition 2.4. Let $\mathcal{V} \to W$ be a real L-equivariant vector bundle on W. Assume that $\mathcal{V} \to W$ is equipped with a L-invariant connection ∇ with equivariant curvature R(X), then the equivariant \hat{A} -genus $\hat{A}(\mathcal{V})$ is defined by

$$\hat{A}(\mathcal{V})(X) = \det^{1/2} \left(\frac{R(X)}{e^{R(X)/2} - e^{-R(X)/2}} \right),$$

which makes sense for X in a small enough neighborhood of $0 \in I$.

Definition 2.5. Let $s \in L$. Denote by N the normal bundle to W^s in W and $R_N(X)$, $X \in \mathfrak{l}(s)$, the equivariant curvature of N with respect to a L(s)-invariant connection. The element

$$D_s(N,X) = \det(1 - s^N \exp(R_N(X))), X \in \mathfrak{l}(s)$$

is a L(s)-equivariant closed form on W^s .

Definition 2.6. Let $E \to W$ be an Euclidean oriented vector bundle with orientation o. Denote by F(X) the equivariant curvature associated to a L-invariant metric connection. The equivariant Euler class is defined by

$$\operatorname{Eul}_{o}(E)(X) = (-2\pi)^{rg(E)/2} \det_{o}^{1/2}(F(X)),$$

where $\det_o^{1/2}$ means the Pfaffian given by the orientation of E.

Remark 2.7. The forms $Ch_s(\mathbb{A})$, $\hat{A}(\mathcal{V})$, $D_s(N)$ and $Eul_o(E)$ are all equivariantly closed. The classes of $\hat{A}(\mathcal{V})$ and $D_s(N)$ do not depend on the connection. The class of $Eul_o(E)$ only depends on the chosen orientation o of E.

2.2 Equivariant cohomology with generalised coefficients

We recall some cohomological constructions [20]. Let L be a compact Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{l} . Let W be a L-manifold. Let us recall the definition of the equivariant cohomology with generalised coefficients [16], see also [20]. Let $C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W))$ be the space of generalised functions on \mathfrak{l} with values in $\mathcal{A}(W)$. By definition, this is the space of continuous linear maps from the space $\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{l})$ of C^{∞} densities with compact support on \mathfrak{l} to $\mathcal{A}(W)$, where $\mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{l})$ and $\mathcal{A}(W)$ are equipped with the C^{∞} topologies. So if $\alpha \in C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W))$ and if $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{l})$ then $\langle \alpha, \phi \rangle$ is a differential form on W denoted by $\int_{\mathfrak{l}} \alpha(X)\phi(X)dX$. A C^{∞} density with compact support on \mathfrak{l} is also called a test density, and a C^{∞} function with compact support on \mathfrak{l} is called a test function. Denote by E^{i} a basis of \mathfrak{l} and E_{i} its dual basis. Let d be the operator on $C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W))$ defined by

$$\langle d\alpha, \phi \rangle = d\langle \alpha, \phi \rangle$$
, pour $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{l})$.

Let ι be the operator defined by

$$\langle \iota \alpha, \phi \rangle = \sum_{i} \iota((E^{i})_{W}^{*}) \langle \alpha, E_{i} \phi \rangle,$$

where $(E^i)_W^*$ means as usual the vector field generated by $E^i \in \mathfrak{l}$ on W and where $E_i \phi$ means the tensor product $E_i \otimes \phi$. Let then $d_{\mathfrak{l}}$ be the operator on $C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W))$ defined by

$$d_{\mathbf{I}}\alpha = d\alpha - \iota\alpha.$$

The operator $d_{\mathfrak{l}}$ coincides with the equivariant differential on $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W)) \subset C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W))$. The group L naturally acts on $C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}, \mathcal{A}(W))$ by $\langle g \cdot \alpha, \phi \rangle = g \cdot \langle \alpha, g^{-1} \cdot \phi \rangle$. The action of L commutes with the operators d and ι . The space of generalized functions on \mathfrak{l} with values in $\mathcal{A}(W)$ which are L-equivariant is denoted by

$$\mathcal{A}_L^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},\mathcal{A}(W)) = C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},\mathcal{A}(W))^L.$$

The operator $d_{\mathfrak{l}}$ preserves $\mathcal{A}_{L}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)$ and satisfies $d_{\mathfrak{l}}^{2}=0$. Similarly, if we replace $\mathcal{A}(W)$ by $\mathcal{A}_{c}(W)$ the space of compactly supported forms then we can define $\mathcal{A}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)=C^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},\mathcal{A}_{c}(W))^{L}$. We also need to consider L-equivariant generalized forms which are defined on an open neighbourhood of the origin in \mathfrak{l} . If O is an L-invariant open subset of \mathfrak{l} , we denote by $\mathcal{A}_{L}^{-\infty}(O,W)$ and

 $\mathcal{A}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(O,W)$ the spaces obtained similarly.

Let U be a L-invariant open set in W. The space of forms with generalized coefficients and with support in U is denoted by $\mathcal{A}_{U}^{-\infty}(O,W)$. This is the space of differential forms with generalized coefficients such that there is a L-invariant closed subspace $C_{\alpha} \subset U$ such that $\int \alpha(X)\phi(X)dX$ is supported in C_{α} for any test density ϕ .

Notation 2.7.1. The cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}_L^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W),d_{\mathfrak{l}})$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}_L^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)$.

The cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W),d_{\mathfrak{l}})$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)$.

The cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}_{L}^{-\infty}(O,W),d_{\mathfrak{l}})$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{L}^{-\infty}(O,W)$. The cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(O,W),d_{\mathfrak{l}})$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(O,W)$. The cohomology of the complex $(\mathcal{A}_{U}^{-\infty}(O,W),d_{\mathfrak{l}})$ is denoted by $\mathcal{H}_{U}^{-\infty}(O,W)$.

There is a natural map

$$\mathcal{H}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W) \to \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},W)$$

induced by the inclusion $\mathcal{A}_L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l},\mathcal{A}(W)) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{A}_L^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},\mathcal{A}(W))$. If $p:M\to B$ is a oriented L-equivariant fibration, then integration along the fibers $\int_{M|B}$ defines a map from $\mathcal{A}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},M)$ to $\mathcal{A}_{c,L}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l},B)$:

$$\langle \int_{M|B} \alpha, \phi \rangle := \int_{M|B} \langle \alpha, \phi \rangle, \ \forall \phi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathfrak{l}),$$

and induces a well defined map:

$$\int_{M|B}: \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{c,L}(\mathfrak{l},M) \to \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{c,L}(\mathfrak{l},B).$$

Finally note that if $\alpha \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{c,L}(\mathfrak{l},M)$, and $\beta \in \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{c,L}(\mathfrak{l},B)$ then $\alpha \wedge p^*\beta \in \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{c,L}(\mathfrak{l},M)$ and

$$\int_{M|B} \alpha \wedge p^{\beta} = (\int_{M|B} \alpha) \wedge \beta.$$

For details on restrictions of invariant generalized functions see for instance [15, 25].

2.3 Chern character of a morphism[24]

Let L be a compact Lie group and denote again by $\mathfrak l$ its Lie algebra. Let W be a L-manifold. Let λ be a real L-invariant 1-form on W. For any $w \in W$, we have $\lambda(w) \in T_w^*W$.

Definition 2.8. The 1-form λ defines an equivariant map

$$f_{\lambda}: W \to \mathfrak{l}^*$$
 given by $< f_{\lambda}(w), X > = < \lambda(w), X_W^*(w) > .$

Denote by C_{λ} the L-invariant closed subspace of W given by:

$$C_{\lambda} = \{ f_{\lambda} = 0 \}.$$

Let $\sigma: E^+ \to E^-$ be a L-equivariant morphism on W, and denote by $C_{\lambda,\sigma}$ the invariant closed subspace given by

$$C_{\lambda,\sigma} = C_{\lambda} \cap \operatorname{supp}(\sigma) \text{ and } v_{\sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^* \\ \sigma & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let \mathbb{A} be a L-invariant super-connection on E. We will use the following notations (see [24]):

- 1. $\mathbb{A}^{\sigma,\lambda}(t) = \mathbb{A} + it(v_{\sigma} + \lambda), t \in \mathbb{R};$
- 2. $F(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, t)(X) = -t^2 v_{\sigma}^2 it < f_{\lambda}, X > +\mu^{\mathbb{A}}(X) + it[\mathbb{A}, v_{\sigma}] + \mathbb{A}^2 + itd\lambda$, which is the equivariant curvature of $\mathbb{A}^{\sigma,\lambda}(t)$;
- 3. $\eta_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, t)(X) = -\operatorname{Str}\left(i(v_{\sigma} + \lambda)s^E e_{|W^s}^{F(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, t)(X)}\right) = -e^{itd_{\mathfrak{g}}\lambda(X)}\operatorname{Str}\left(i(v_{\sigma} + \lambda)s^E e_{|W^s}^{F(\sigma, \mathbb{A}, t)(X)}\right),$ which is the transgression form associated to the Chern character of $\mathbb{A}^{\sigma, \lambda}(t)$;
- 4. $\beta_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}) = \int_0^\infty \eta_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, t) dt$, which is a form with generalized coefficients since the convergence of $\int_0^T \eta_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, t) dt$ when T goes to infinity makes sense as a distribution.

For the following theorem see [24] and also Section 3.3 of [25].

Theorem 2.9. [24, Theorem 3.19] • For any L(s)-invariant open neighborhood U of $C_{s,\lambda,\sigma} = C_{\lambda,\sigma} \cap W^s$, let $\chi \in C^{\infty}(W^s)^{L(s)}$ be a L(s)-invariant function which is equal to 1 in a neighborhood of $C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}$ and with support contained in U.

1. Then $c_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, \chi) = \chi \operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}) + d\chi \beta_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A})$ is an equivariant closed differential form with generalized coefficients supported in U. Furthermore, we have

$$c_{se^X}(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, \chi)(Y) = c_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, \chi)(X + Y)_{|W^s \cap W^X},$$

for any $X \in \mathfrak{l}(s)$ and $Y \in \mathfrak{l}(s) \cap \mathfrak{l}(X)$.

- 2. The cohomology class $c_U(\sigma, \lambda, s) \in \mathcal{H}_U^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}(s), W^s)$ of $c_s(\sigma, \lambda, \Lambda, \chi)$ does not depend on the choices of the super-connection Λ , χ and the hermitian structures on E^{\pm} .
- 3. Moreover, the inverse family $c_U(\sigma, \lambda)$ when U runs over the neighborhood of $C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}$ defines a class

$$\mathrm{Ch}_{\mathrm{sup}}(\sigma,\lambda,s) \in \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}}(\mathfrak{l}(s),W^s),$$

where $\mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}}(\mathfrak{l}(s),W^s)$ is the projective limit of the projective system $(\mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_U(\mathfrak{l}(s),W^s))_{C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}\subset U}$.

- The image $\operatorname{Ch}_{\sup}(\sigma, \lambda, s)$ in $\mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{\sup (\sigma) \cap W^s}(\mathfrak{l}(s), W^s)$ is equal to $\operatorname{Ch}_{\sup}(\sigma, s)$.
- Let F be a L-invariant subspace of W^s . For $\tau \in [0,1]$, Let $\sigma_{\tau} : E^+ \to E^-$ be a differential family of L-equivariant smooth morphisms and let λ_{τ} be a L-invariant differential family of 1-forms such that $C_{s,\lambda_{\tau},\sigma_{\tau}} \subset F \ \forall \tau \in [0,1]$. Then all the classes $\operatorname{Ch}_{\sup}(\sigma_{\tau},\lambda_{\tau},s)$ coincide in $\mathcal{H}_F^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}(s),W^s)$.

Definition 2.10. If $C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}$ is a compact subspace of W^s , then we can define:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_c(\sigma,\lambda,s) \in \mathcal{H}_c^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{l}(s),W^s)$$

as the image of $\operatorname{Ch}_{\sup}(\sigma, \lambda, s) \in \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{C_{s,\lambda,\sigma}}(\mathfrak{l}(s), W^s)$ in $\mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_c(\mathfrak{l}(s), W^s)$. A representative of $\operatorname{Ch}_c(\sigma, \lambda, s)$ is then given by any equivariant form $c_s(\sigma, \lambda, \mathbb{A}, \psi)$ as before, with ψ compactly supported. See again [24].

Remark 2.11. If σ is a L-equivariant elliptic symbol then we get $\operatorname{Ch}_c(\sigma, s) \in \mathcal{H}_c^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}(s), W^s)$.

Lemma 2.12. [10] Assume that L(s) acts trivially on a manifold W. We have the following isomorphism:

$$K(W) \otimes R(L(s)) \to K_{L(s)}(W)$$

 $[\sigma] \otimes V \mapsto [\sigma \otimes id_V],$

$$H(W) \otimes C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}(s))^{L(s)} \to \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{L(s)}(\mathfrak{l}(s), Y)$$

 $[\omega] \otimes \varphi \mapsto [X \mapsto \omega \varphi(X)]$

We denote by χ the character morphism which associates to a representation its character. The following diagram is commutative:

$$K_{L(s)}(W) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Ch}_s} \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{L(s)}(\mathfrak{l}(s), W)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow$$

$$K(W) \otimes R(L(s)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Ch}_s} H(W) \otimes C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{l}(s))^{L(s)}.$$

Proof. We use the previous notations. Let $\sigma: E^+ \to E^-$ be an elliptic morphism, let ∇^E be a graded connection on $E = E^+ \oplus E^-$ and $\nabla^V = d \otimes id_V$ be the trivial connexion on $Y \times V$. Denote by ∇ the product connection on $E \otimes V$. Then the associated equivariant curvature to $\sigma \otimes id_V$ is $F(\sigma \otimes id_V, \nabla, t)(X) = F(\sigma \otimes id_V, \nabla, t) + \mu^{\nabla}(X)$ on Y is equal to $F(\sigma, \nabla^E, t) \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes X$ because $\mu^{\nabla}(X) = 1 \otimes X$ since $X_W^* = 0$. So we get $\operatorname{Ch}_s(\nabla)(X) = \operatorname{Ch}(\nabla^E)\chi(se^X)$ and $\eta_s(\sigma \otimes id_V, \nabla, t)(X) = \eta(\sigma, \nabla^E, t)\chi(se^X)$. And then if ψ is a smooth invariant function on Y, we obtain

$$c_s(\sigma \otimes id_V, \nabla, \psi) = \psi \operatorname{Ch}(\nabla^E) \otimes \chi(se^{\bullet}) + d\psi \beta(\sigma, \nabla^E) \otimes \chi(se^{\bullet}) = c(\sigma, \nabla^E, \psi) \otimes \chi(se^{\bullet}).$$

2.4 The index class of a family of G-transversally elliptic operators

Here we recall the definition of the index class of a family of G-transversally elliptic operators [6]. Denote by $T_GM = \{\alpha \in T^*M | \alpha(X_M^*) = 0, \forall X \in \mathfrak{g}\}$. Let T_G^VM denote the space $T^VM \cap T_GM$. Recall that a family $P = (P_b)_{b \in B}$ of G-transversally elliptic pseudodifferential operators is a family of pseudodifferential operators such that its principal symbol $\sigma(P)$ is invertible on $T_G^VM \setminus M$. We fix from now on a G-invariant continuous family of Borel measures (μ_b) which are in the Lebesgue class, constructed using a partition of unity of B. So, for any $f \in C(M)$, the map $b \mapsto \int_{M_b} f(m) d\mu_b(m)$ is continuous, and each measure μ_b is fully supported in the fiber M_b . Since E is equipped with a hermitian structure, the C(B)-modules $C^{\infty,0}(M, E^{\pm})$ of continuous fiberwise smooth sections over M, are naturally equipped with the structure of pre-Hilbert right G-equivariant C(B)-modules with the inner product given by:

$$\langle s, s' \rangle(b) = \int_{M_b} \langle s(m), s'(m) \rangle_{E_m^{\pm}} d\mu_b(m), \quad \text{for } s, s' \in C^{\infty,0}(M, E^{\pm}).$$

We denote by \mathcal{E}^{\pm} the completion of $C^{\infty,0}(M, E^{\pm})$. So, $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}^+ \oplus \mathcal{E}^-$ is our G-equivariant \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded Hilbert module on C(B). We denote by C^*G the C^* -algebra associated with G. Let $\pi: C^*G \to \mathcal{L}_{C(B)}(\mathcal{E})$ be the *-representation given by

$$\pi(\varphi)s = \int_G \varphi(g)(g \cdot s)dg, \ \forall \varphi \in L^1(G) \text{ and } s \in C^{\infty,0}(M, E).$$

If $P_0: C^{\infty,0}(M,E^+) \to C^{\infty,0}(M,E^-)$ is a family of pseudodifferential operators of order 0, we denote by P the family $\begin{pmatrix} 0 & P_0^* \\ P_0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

Let H be a compact Lie group. Assume that H acts on M and that E and P are also H-equivariant.

Definition 2.13. [6] The index class $\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)$ of a $G \times H$ -invariant family \tilde{P} of G-transversally elliptic operators is defined by:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(P_0) = [\mathcal{E}, \pi, P] \in \operatorname{KK}_{H}(C^*G, C(B)).$$

If H is the trivial group then we simply denote by $\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)$ the index class which leaves in $\operatorname{KK}(C^*G,C(B))$.

Let us recall the definition of K-multiplicity of an irreductible unitary representation of G. Denote by \hat{G} the space of isomorphism classes of unitary irreducible representations of G.

Definition 2.14. [6] The K-multiplicity $m_P(V)$ of a irreducible unitary G-representation V in the index class $\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P_0)$ is the image of the class $[(\mathcal{E}_V^G, P_V^G)] \in \operatorname{KK}(\mathbb{C}, C(B))$ under the isomorphism $\operatorname{KK}(\mathbb{C}, C(B)) \cong \operatorname{K}(B)$. So $m_P(V)$ is the class of a virtual vector bundle over B, an element of the topological K-theory group $\operatorname{K}(B)$. The class $[(\mathcal{E}_V^G, P_V^G)]$ coincides (as expected) with the Kasparov product

$$[V] \underset{C^*G}{\otimes} \operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P_0) \in \operatorname{KK}(\mathbb{C}, C(B)),$$

As we have $KK(C^*G, C(B)) \cong Hom(R(G), K(B))$ (see for instance [27]), we get:

Proposition 2.15. The index class of a G-invariant family P of G-transversally elliptic operators is totally determined by its multiplicities and we have:

$$\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P) = \sum_{V \in \hat{G}} m_P(V) \chi_V.$$

Proof. We simply apply the Universal Coefficient Theorem in bivariant K-theory [27]. Indeed, the C^* -algebra of G belongs to the bootstrap category, see for example [22]. Moreover, R(G) is a free module which is isomorphic to $\bigoplus_{G \in \mathcal{G}} \mathbb{Z}$.

2.5 Index theorem for *H*-equivariant elliptic families [5]

Let H be a compact group. Let P_0 be a H-equivariant continuous family of pseudodifferential operators of order 0 which is elliptic along the fibers. Recall that a family P is elliptic along the fibers if its principal symbol σ_P given on each fiber by σ_{P_0} is invertible on $T^VM^* \setminus M$.

Definition 2.16. [5] The *H*-equivariant analytical index $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(P_0)$ of P_0 is defined as the image in $K_H(B)$ of the index class $[\mathcal{E}, P] \in KK_H(\mathbb{C}, C(B))$. It is the formal difference of the continuous fields of Hilbert spaces $\left(\ker((P_0)_b)\right)_{b\in B}$ and $\left(\ker((P_0^*)_b)\right)_{b\in B}$.

Here \mathcal{E} and P are constructed as in the previous section. Denote by π the projection $T^VM \to M$. The map $p \circ \pi$ is K_H -oriented so it defines an element $p_! \in KK_H(C_0(T^VM), C(B))$ [14].

Definition 2.17. [5] Let P_0 be a H-equivariant elliptic family of operators on M parametrized by a compact manifold B. The topological index is defined by $\operatorname{Ind}_{H,t}^{M|B}(P_0) = [\sigma(P)] \otimes_{C_0(T^V M)} p_! \in K_H(B)$.

Let us recall the index theorem for families [5].

Theorem 2.18. [5] The analytical index $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}$ and the topological index $\operatorname{Ind}_{H,t}^{M|B}$ coincide.

Remark 2.19. Our notation for the index class of a $G \times H$ -family of G-transversally elliptic operators is consistent with the equivariant case because if G is the trivial group then the family is H-equivariant and elliptic and then its index $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(P)$ lives in $\operatorname{KK}_{H}(\mathbb{C}, C(B))$.

3 The Chern character of the index class

We want to obtain cohomological formulas for the index of a G-invariant family of G-transversally elliptic operators. We will use the bivariant local cyclic homology [26].

3.1 The Chern character in bivariant local cyclic homology

Recall the following theorem from [22].

Theorem 3.1 (Universal Coefficient Theorem). [22] Let A and B be separable C^* -algebras satisfying the universal coefficient theorem in KK-theory. Then there is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{HL}(A, B) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(K_*(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}, K_*(B) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{HL}(C^*G), \operatorname{HL}(C(B)))$$

of graded vector spaces.

As the C^* -algebra C^*G of a compact Lie group G is in the bootstrap category [22], we can apply the universal coefficients theorem in bivariant local cyclic homology. So we obtain:

Proposition 3.2. The bivariant local cyclic homology $HL(C^*G, C(B))$ of the couple $(C^*G, C(B))$ is isomorphic to $Hom(HL(C^*G), HL(C(B))$.

Proposition 3.3. The Chern character in bivariant local cyclic homology of the index class $\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)$ of a G-invariant family P of G-transversally elliptic operators is given by:

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(P_0)) = \sum_{V \in \hat{G}} \operatorname{Ch}(m_P(V))\chi_V,$$

where $Ch(m_p(V)) \in H(B)$ is the usual Chern character of $m_P(V) \in K(B)$ (here we have used the isomorphism $HL(C(B)) \simeq H(B)$) from [26].

Proof. By Proposition 3.2, we know that $\operatorname{HL}(C^*G, C(B)) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{HL}(C^*G), \operatorname{HL}(C(B))$. So we deduce that $\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P))$ is totally determined by its values on the irreductible representations. We know that the Chern character in bivariant local cyclic homology is a natural transformation [26]. Thus we have

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)) \circ \operatorname{Ch}(V) = \operatorname{Ch}([V] \otimes_{C*G} \operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)) = \operatorname{Ch}(m_P(V)).$$

3.2 Distributional index with value in H(B)

Following [1], we want to obtain a distributional Chern character. More precisely, if $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(G)$ we want to know if the series $\sum_{V \in \hat{G}} \operatorname{Ch}(m_P(V)) < \chi_V, \varphi >_{L^2(G)}$ is convergent. Here the series has values in H(B) while in [1] the series has values in \mathbb{C} . We show that the Chern character of the index class converges as a distribution on $C^{\infty}(G)$ with value in the finite dimensional cohomology of B.

Theorem 3.4. [6] The pairing of the index class of a G-invariant family of pseudodifferential operator P of order 0 which is G-transversally elliptic along the fibers, with an element of the K-homology group $KK(C(B), \mathbb{C})$ is given by the index class of a G-invariant pseudodifferential operator which is G-transversally elliptic on the ambiant manifold M.

Corollary 3.5. If α is an element of the K-homology of B then

- 1. the class $[\mathcal{E}, \pi, P] \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha \in KK(C^*G, \mathbb{C}) \simeq Hom(R(G), \mathbb{C})$ is given by the distributionnal index of Atiyah [1], i.e. the multiplicities of $Ind^{M|B}(P) \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha$ are summable in the sens of distributions on G;
- 2. denote by $m([V] \otimes_{C*G} \operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P) \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha)$ the integer associated to the multiplicity of V $[V] \otimes_{C*G} \operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P) \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha$ in $\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P) \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha$. For any $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(G)$, the series

$$\sum_{V \in \hat{G}} m([V] \otimes_{C*G} \operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P) \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha) < \chi_V, \varphi >_{L^2(G)},$$

is convergente in \mathbb{C} .

Proof. Indeed, by the Theorem 3.4 $\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P) \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha$ is represented by the index class of a G-transversally elliptic pseudodifferential operator on M. By [1], we know that the distributional index of a G-transversally elliptic operator Q is tempered on G and is totally determined by its multiplicities, that is to say $\operatorname{Ind}^M(Q) = \sum_{V \in \hat{G}} m_Q(V) \chi_V$ is well defined as a distribution on G. \square

We now deduce from the previous discussion that the Chern character of the index class of a G-invariant family of G-transversally elliptic pseudodifferential operators is a distribution on G with value in the cohomology of the base B. For this purpose, the bivariant multiplicative Chern character is used [26]. Then we show that the formal sum $\sum_{V \in \hat{G}} \operatorname{Ch}(m_P(V))\chi_V$ converges in the distributional sense with value in the finite dimensional vector space H(B).

Theorem 3.6. Assume that B is oriented. Then the Chern character, in bivariant local cyclic cohomology, of the index class of a G-invariant family of pseudodifferential operators which is G-transversally elliptic along the fibers is a distribution with value in the even de Rham cohomology of B. We have more precisely,

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(P)) = \sum_{V \in \hat{G}} \operatorname{Ch}(m_P(V)) \chi_V \in C^{-\infty}(G, H^{2*}(B))^G.$$

Proof. In order to show that $\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)) = \sum_{V \in \hat{G}} \operatorname{Ch}(m_P(V))\chi_V$ converges in the sense of distributions in $C^{-\infty}(G, H^{2*}(B))$, we will show that for any closed de Rham current C on B, the pairing of C with the Chern character $\langle \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)), C \rangle$ is a distribution on G. Let $C \in H_*(B)$ be a de Rham current on B. As the Chern character is an isomorphism after tensoring by \mathbb{C} , we get that there exist $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n$ elements of $K_*(B)$ such that $C = \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda_i \operatorname{Ch}(\alpha_i)$. Then we have $\langle \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)), C \rangle = \sum_{i=0}^n \lambda_i \langle \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)), \operatorname{Ch}(\alpha_i) \rangle$. Therefore it is sufficient to check that this pairing is a distribution for each element of the type $\operatorname{Ch}(\alpha)$, with $\alpha \in K_*(B)$. Now if $\alpha \in K_*(B)$ then we have $\langle \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)), \operatorname{Ch}(\alpha) \rangle = \operatorname{Ch}([\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)] \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha)$ by multiplicativity of the Chern character in bivariant local cyclic homology. On the one hand, if $\alpha \in K_1(B)$ then $[\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)] \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha \in \operatorname{KK}^1(C^*G, \mathbb{C}) = 0$ and so $\langle \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)), \operatorname{Ch}(\alpha) \rangle = \operatorname{Ch}([\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)] \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha) = 0$. On the other hand, if $\alpha \in K_0(B)$ then we know that by Corollary 3.5 that $[\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)] \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha = \operatorname{Ch}([\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}(P)] \otimes_{C(B)} \alpha)$ is a distribution on G. The Chern character is hence a distribution with values is the even de Rham cohomology because using the universal coefficient theorem in bivariant local cyclic homology, we have $\operatorname{Ch}(E, \pi, P) \in \operatorname{HL}(C^*G, C(B)) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(R(G) \otimes \mathbb{C}, K^0(B) \otimes \mathbb{C}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(R(G) \otimes \mathbb{C}, H^{2*}(B))$. \square

Remark 3.7. If $B = \{\star\}$, we get the standard result (see [23]) that the Chern-Connes character of the index class of a G-invariant pseudodifferential operator which is G-transversally elliptic coincides with the distribution of Atiyah view as a trace on $C^{\infty}(G)^G$. Moreover, we have $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{HP}_0(C^{\infty}(G)), \operatorname{HP}_0(C^{\infty}(B))) = C^{-\infty}(G, H^{2*}(B))^G$.

4 Berline-Vergne formula for equivariant families

In this section, we show a formula of the delocalized index in equivariant cohomology for H-invariant elliptic families. In a first paragraph, we begin by recall the Bismut localization formula [12] which is a generalization of the Berline-Vergne localization formula [10], [8].

4.1 Review of the Bismut localization formula

Assume that M and B are connected and oriented. Let H be a compact Lie group and \mathfrak{h} its Lie algebra. Let $X \in \mathfrak{h}$. Denote respectively by X_M and X_B the vector fields generated respectively by X on M and B. Let $B^X = \{b \in B/X_B(b) = 0\}$ and $M^X = \{m \in M/X_M(m) = 0\}$ be the submanifolds of zeros of X_M and X_B . Since p is H-equivariant we have $p_*X_M = X_B$. We know that the fibration $p: M \to B$ restricts in a fibration $p^X: M^X \to B^X$, see for example [12].

Choose a *H*-invariant metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on *M*, i.e.

$$\forall Y_1, Y_2 \in C^{\infty}(M, TM) < h \cdot Y_1, h \cdot Y_2 > = < Y_1, Y_2 >, \forall h \in H.$$

Let $T^{Hor}M$ be the orthogonal bundle of T^VM . Denote by N_M^X the normal bundle of M^X in M and by N_B^X the normal bundle of B^X in B. We can lift N_B^X by p_* into a subbundle of $T^{Hor}M$ on M. We note it $p^*N_B^X$.

Theorem 4.1. [12] With the previous notation, we have:

- 1. The vertical normal bundle $N_M^X \cap T^V M$ of M^X coincides with the normal bundle $\mathcal{N}(p^{-1}(b) \cap M^X, p^{-1}(b))$ of $p^{-1}(b) \cap M^X$ in $p^{-1}(b)$.
- 2. The normal vertical bundle $N_M^X \cap T^V M$ of M^X coincide with the normal bundle $\mathcal{N}(M^X, p^{-1}(B^X))$ of M^X in $p^{-1}(B^X)$.
- 3. Moreover, we have $N_M^X = N_M^X \cap T^V M \oplus N_B^X$.

Lemma 4.2. [19] Let T be a torus. Let V be a T-manifold. Denote by V^T the set of fixed points of V under the action of T. Then the normal bundle N of V^T in V is oriented by a complex structure. In this case, we can define the equivariant Euler class $\operatorname{Eul}(N)$ of the normal bundle N.

Theorem 4.3 (Bismut localization formula, 1986 [12]).

Denote by $j: B^X \hookrightarrow B$, $i: M^X \hookrightarrow M$, $\operatorname{Eul}(N_M^X \cap T^V M, X)$ the equivariant Euler form of $N_M^X \cap T^V M$ and $\int_{M|B}$ the integration along the fibers [13]. Let $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}(M)$ be a differential form which is $(d + \iota(X))$ -closed. Then the following equality holds in $H(B^X)$:

$$j^* \int_{M|B} \alpha = \int_{M^X|B^X} \frac{i^* \alpha}{\operatorname{Eul}(N_M^X \cap T^V M, X)}.$$

4.2 Delocalized index formulas

Let again H be a compact Lie group and \mathfrak{h} its Lie algebra. Let $p:M\to B$ be a H-equivariant fibration of compact manifolds. Assume that B is oriented. Assume that H is a topologically cyclic group generated by a single element h. We can always reduce to this case by using Remark 4.9 below. Denote by $i:T^VM^H\hookrightarrow T^VM$ and $j:B^H\hookrightarrow B$ the inclusions of the fixed point submanifolds. We have the following theorem from [7].

Theorem 4.4. [7] The following equality is satisfied in $H(B^H, \mathbb{C})$:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Ch}(j^*\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M|B}}(\sigma(h)))}{\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B(h))} = \int_{T^VM^H|B^H} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}(i^*\sigma(h))}{\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}(N\cap T^VM\otimes\mathbb{C}\oplus p^*N^B)(h))} \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^VM^H).$$

Let $s \in H$ and $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$ small enough so that the flow e^{tX} of X_M and e^X act in the same way for t close to 0. Let $h = se^X$. By [10], we know then that $(M^s)^X = M^h$.

Lemma 4.5. Let $s \in H$ and $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$, we denote by h the element se^X . Assume X small enough so that $(M^s)^X = M^h$. We have the inclusions $M^h \subset i_h, s \to M$ and we denote by i_h the inclusion of M^h in M. We denote by N_h the normal bundle of M^h in M, N_h^s the normal bundle of M^h in M^s and N_s the normal bundle of M^s in M. Then we have:

1.
$$\operatorname{Ch}\left(\lambda_{-1}(N_h \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C})(se^X)\right) = \operatorname{Ch}\left(\lambda_{-1}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}), X\right) i_{h,s}^* \operatorname{Ch}_s\left(\lambda_{-1}(N_s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}), X\right),$$
(1a)

2.
$$\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}), X) = \operatorname{Eul}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}, X) \wedge \hat{A}(N_h^s \cap T^V M, X)^{-2},$$
 (1b)

3.
$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\lambda_{-1}(N_s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}), X) = D_s(N_s \cap T^V M, X).$$
 (1c)

Proof. 1. The element se^X acts trivially on M^h . On the one hand, we have the following identifications:

- $TM_{|M^s} = TM^s \oplus N_s$,
- $TM_{|M^h} = TM^h \oplus N_h = (TM^s)_{|M^h} \oplus (N_s)_{|M^h} = TM^h \oplus N_h^s \oplus (N_s)_{|M^h}$

so $N_h \cap T^V M = N_h^s \cap T^V M \oplus (N_s)_{|M^h} \cap T^V M$. We know that $\Lambda(E \oplus E') \cong \Lambda E \otimes \Lambda E'$ and hence

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}(N_h \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C})(se^X)) = \operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C})(se^X)) \wedge \operatorname{Ch}(i_h^* \lambda_{-1}(N_s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C})(se^X)).$$

On the other hand, the vector bundle N_h^s is a vector subbundle of TM^s on which s acts trivially. So the action on N_h^s is trivial. We deduce that the action of s on $\lambda_{-1}(N_h^s \cap T^VM \otimes \mathbb{C})$ is trivial and we have:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_{se^X} \left(\lambda_{-1} N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C} \right) = \operatorname{Ch} \left(\lambda_{-1} N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}(se^X) \right) = \operatorname{Ch} \left(\lambda_{-1} N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}, X \right).$$

Moreover, using Theorem 2.9, we have:

$$\operatorname{Ch}(i_h^* \lambda_{-1}(N_s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C})(se^X)) = \operatorname{Ch}_{se^X}(\lambda_{-1}(N_s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}))(0) = i_{h,s}^* \operatorname{Ch}_s(\lambda_{-1}(N_s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}), X).$$

- 2. Denote by $R_0(X)$ an equivariant curvature on $N_h^s \cap T^V M$ associated to a H-invariant metric connection. We have $\frac{e^{R_0/2} e^{-R_0/2}}{R_0} = e^{-R_0/2} \frac{e^{R_0} 1}{R_0}$ and $\det\left(e^{-R_0/2}\right) = 1$ since R_0 is antisymmetric. It follows that $\hat{A}(N_h^s \cap T^V M, X)^{-2} = \det\left(\frac{-(1 e^{R_0(X)})}{R_0(X)}\right)$, so we get the result since $\operatorname{Eul}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}, X) = \operatorname{Eul}(N_h^s \cap T^V M, X)^2 = \det\left(-R_0(X)\right)$.
- 3. Denote by R(X) an equivariant curvature on $N^s \cap T^V M$ and $R(X) \otimes \mathbb{C}$ the equivariant curvature associated on $N^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}$. For any linear map A on \mathbb{R}^n , if we denote by $\Lambda^i(A)$ the induced map on $\Lambda^i \mathbb{R}^n$ then we have:

$$\sum (-1)^{i} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\Lambda^{i}(A)\right) = \det(1 - A). \tag{2}$$

The result follows from (2) applied to $se^{R(X)\otimes \mathbb{C}}$.

Lemma 4.6. In the cohomology with complex coefficients of B^H , the following equality is satisfied at the point $h = e^X$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}\left(\lambda_{-1}(N\cap T^{V}M\otimes\mathbb{C}\oplus p^{*}N^{B})(e^{X})\right) = \operatorname{Ch}\left(\lambda_{-1}(N\cap T^{V}M\otimes\mathbb{C}),X\right)\wedge p^{*}\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^{B},X).$$
(3)

Proof. The proof stems from Lemma 2.12 and the multiplicativity of the equivariant Chern character.

Theorem 4.7. For $X \in \mathfrak{h}$ small enough, the following equality is satisfied in the cohomology $H(B, d_X)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma),X\right) = \int_{T^{V}M|B} \operatorname{Ch}(\sigma,X) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(T^{V}M,X).$$

Proof. By Theorem 4.4, we have the following equality in the cohomology of B^H :

$$\frac{\operatorname{Ch}\left(j^*\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(\sigma(e^X))\right)}{\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B(e^X))} = \int_{T^VM^H|B^H} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}\left(i^*\sigma(e^X)\right)}{\operatorname{Ch}\left(\lambda_{-1}(N\cap T^VM\otimes\mathbb{C}\oplus p^*N^B)(e^X)\right)} \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^VM^H). \tag{4}$$

We have $\operatorname{Ch}(j^*\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma(e^X))) = \operatorname{Ch}(j^*\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma), X)$ since the action is trivial on B^H . So using Lemma 4.5 and Lemma 4.6, we get:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Ch}(j^*\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma),X)}{\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B,X)} = \int_{T^VM^H|B^H} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}(i^*\sigma,X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(N \cap T^VM,X)}{\operatorname{Eul}(N \cap T^VM \otimes \mathbb{C},X) \wedge p^*\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B,X)} \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^VM^H).$$

Moreover, we have $\hat{A}^2(N \cap T^V M, X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^V M^H) = i^* \hat{A}^2(T^V M, X)$, so:

$$\frac{j^*\mathrm{Ch}\big(\mathrm{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma),X\big)}{\mathrm{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B,X)} = \mathrm{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B,X)^{-1} \wedge \int_{T^VM^B|B^B} \frac{i^*\big(\mathrm{Ch}(\sigma,X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^VM,X)\big)}{\mathrm{Eul}(N \cap T^VM \otimes \mathbb{C},X)}.$$

Moreover, for $X \in \mathfrak{h}$ small enough, the zeros of the vector field generated by X and the fixed points of e^X coincide so $T^VM^H = T^VM^X$ and $B^H = B^X$. Since $Ch(\sigma, X)$ has compact support, we can apply the Bismut localization formula (Theorem 4.3), to get:

$$\int_{T^V M^X \mid B^X} \frac{i^* \left(\operatorname{Ch}(\sigma, X) \wedge \hat{A}^2 (T^V M^H, X) \right)}{\operatorname{Eul}(N \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}, X)} = j^* \int_{T^V M \mid B} \operatorname{Ch}(\sigma, X) \wedge \hat{A}^2 (T^V M, X).$$

Now, simplifying the invertible element $\mathrm{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^B,X)$ and using Proposition 2.1 of [10] which says that the restriction $j^*: H(B,d_X) \to H(B^X,\mathbb{C})$ is an isomorphism, we get the desired result. \square

We now give a similar formula for the equivariant Chern character of the index of an elliptic family in the neighborhood of a point $s \in H$ different from the identity.

Theorem 4.8. Let $s \in H$ and $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$, we denote by h the element se^X . We suppose X small enough, such that $(M^s)^X = M^h$. Denote by N_s the normal bundle of M^s in M. The following equality is true in the cohomology $H(B^s, d_X)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma),X\right) = \int_{T^V M^s|B^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma,X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^V M^s,X)}{D_s(N_s \cap T^V M,X)}.$$

Proof. We have the inclusions $M^h \subset i_h, s \to M^s \subset i_s \to M$, we denote by i_h the inclusion of M^h in M. Similarly, we have the inclusions $B^h \subset j_h, s \to B^s \subset j_s \to B$, we denote by j_h the inclusion of B^h in B. We denote by N_h the normal bundle of M^h in M, N_h^s the normal bundle of M^h in M^s . By Theorem 4.4 for h, on B^h , we get:

$$\frac{\operatorname{Ch}\left(j_{h}^{*}\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(\sigma(h))\right)}{\operatorname{Ch}(\lambda_{-1}N^{B}(h))} = \int_{T^{V}M^{h}|B^{h}} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}\left(i_{h}^{*}\sigma(h)\right)}{\operatorname{Ch}\left(\lambda_{-1}(N_{g}\cap T^{V}M\otimes\mathbb{C}\oplus p^{*}N^{B})(h)\right)} \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(T^{V}M^{H}).$$

By Theorem 2.9, we have the following equalities $\operatorname{Ch}\left(j_h^*\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma(h))\right) = j_{h,s}^*\operatorname{Ch}_s\left((\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}})(\sigma),X\right)$ and $\operatorname{Ch}\left(i_h^*\sigma(h)\right) = i_{h,s}^*\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma,X)$. Using Lemma 4.6, applying (1b) and the fact that $T^VM^h \oplus N_h^s = i_{h,s}^*T^VM^s$, we get:

$$j_{h,s}^* \operatorname{Ch}_s \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma), X \right) = \int_{T^V M^h|B^h} \frac{i_{h,s}^* \left(\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma, X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^V M^s, X) \wedge D_s(N_s \cap T^V M, X)^{-1} \right)}{\operatorname{Eul}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}, X)}.$$

Now, for $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$ small enough, we have $M^h = (M^s)^X$ and $T^V M^h = (T^V M^s)^X$, so:

$$j_{h,s}^* \operatorname{Ch}_s \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma), X \right) = \int_{(T^V M^s)^X} \frac{i_{h,s}^* \left(\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma, X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^V M^s, X) \wedge D_s(N_s \cap T^V M, X)^{-1} \right)}{\operatorname{Eul}(N_h^s \cap T^V M \otimes \mathbb{C}, X)},$$

by Theorem 4.3, it follows that:

$$j_{h,s}^* \operatorname{Ch}_s \left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{H}}^{\operatorname{M|B}}(\sigma), X \right) = j_{h,s}^* \int_{T^V M^s | B^s} \operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma, X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^V M^s, X) \wedge D_s(N_s \cap T^V M, X)^{-1}.$$

Moreover, the restriction $j_{h,s}^*: H(B^s, d_X) \to H(B^h)$ is an isomorphism, so we conclude:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s\left(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\sigma),X\right) = \int_{T^VM^s|B^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma,X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(T^VM^s,X)}{D_s(N_s \cap T^VM,X)}.$$

Remark 4.9. [2] To remove the hypothesis that H is a topologically cyclic group generated by a single element, it is enough to replace H by the closure of the group generated by the element h. Indeed, if we denote by $\varphi : \tilde{H} = \overline{\langle h \rangle} \hookrightarrow H$ the inclusion of the closure of the group generated by h in H then the following diagram is commutative:

$$K_{\mathrm{H}}(T^{V}M) \xrightarrow{\varphi^{*}} K_{\tilde{\mathrm{H}}}(T^{V}M)$$

$$\downarrow^{\mathrm{Ind}_{\tilde{\mathrm{H}}}^{\mathrm{M}\mid B}} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\mathrm{Ind}_{\tilde{\mathrm{H}}}^{\mathrm{M}\mid B}}$$

$$K_{\mathrm{H}}(B) \xrightarrow{\varphi^{*}} K_{\tilde{\mathrm{H}}}(B).$$

Remark 4.10. If the action of H is trivial on B then we obtain equalities in the de Rham cohomology H(B) of B with complex coefficient.

4.3 An application: The homogeneous case

The purpose of this section is to explain the link between the Berline-Vergne delocalization formula for a $G \times H$ -invariant elliptic operator and the formula along the fibers presented in the previous section. We begin by recalling a construction from [4].

Let G and H be two compact Lie groups. Let $P \to B$ be a H-equivariant G-principal bundle. Let F be a $G \times H$ -manifold. We define a H-equivariant fibration $p: M \to B$, with fiber F and structural group G, by setting $M = P \times_G F$. Let $A: C^{\infty}(F, E^+) \to C^{\infty}(F, E^-)$ be an elliptic pseudodifferential $G \times H$ -invariant operator of order 1. By [4], we know that the index $\operatorname{Ind}_{G \times H}(A)$ of the operator A is an element of $R(G \times H)$. Recall ([4], (4.3) page 504) the map

$$\mu_P: R(G \times H) \to \mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{H}}(B)$$

induced by the map which associates to a $G \times H$ -representation V the vector bundle over B given by $P \times_G V$. We denote respectively p_1 and p_2 the first and second projections of $P \times F$. Following [4] (page 527), we define a H-invariant operator \tilde{A} on M, elliptic along the fibers. The operator A lifts to an operator \tilde{A}_1 on $P \times F$. Since \tilde{A}_1 is $G \times H$ -invariant, it induces an operator \tilde{A} on M. We restrict \tilde{A}_1 to the constant sections along the fibers of $P \times F \to M$. Since P is locally a product, the restriction \tilde{A}_V of \tilde{A} to the open sets $p^{-1}(V)$ is just the lift of A, so $\tilde{A}_V \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}^1(p^{-1}(V))$ and therefore $\tilde{A} \in \overline{\mathcal{P}}^1(M)$. The symbol $\sigma(\tilde{A})$ satisfies $\sigma_{(\eta,\xi)}(\tilde{A}) = \sigma_{\xi}(A)$ so is elliptic along the fibers of p. Moreover, we have the following proposition:

Proposition 4.11 ([4], page 529). The index of \tilde{A} is given by:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M|B}}(\tilde{A}) = [P \times_G \ker A] - [P \times_G \operatorname{coker} A] \in \mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{H}}(B)$$
$$= \mu_P(\operatorname{Ind}_{G \times H}^F(A)).$$

18

Let $s \in H$. We denote again by \mathfrak{h} the Lie algebra of H and by $\mathfrak{h}(s)$ the Lie algebra of the centralizer H(s) of s in H.

Corollary 4.12. Let $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$. We have the following equality in $H(B^s, d_X)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\tilde{A}), X) = \operatorname{Ch}_s(\mu_P(\operatorname{Ind}_{G \times H}^F(A)), X).$$

In the following, CW will equally denote the Chern-Weil homomorphism $C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{g} \times \mathfrak{h})^{G \times H} \to \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{H}(\mathfrak{h}, B)$ and the Chern-Weil isomorphism $\mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{G \times H}(\mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{h}, P) \to \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{H}(\mathfrak{h}, B)$. We denote by θ the H-invariant 1-form connection on P and Θ its curvature. We denote by $\Theta(X) = \Theta - \iota(X)\theta$ its equivariant curvature. The Chern-Weyl isomorphism is given by $CW(\alpha)(X) = \alpha(X, \Theta(X))$, $\forall \alpha \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty}_{G \times H}(\mathfrak{g} \oplus \mathfrak{h}, P)$ and $X \in \mathfrak{h}$. For more details, see [17] (see also [21]). We have:

Proposition 4.13. The following diagram is commutative:

$$R(H(s) \times G) \xrightarrow{\mu_{P}} \mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{H}(s)}(B^{s})$$

$$\mathrm{Ch}_{s} = \chi_{-}(se^{-}) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \mathrm{Ch}_{s}$$

$$C^{\infty}(\mathfrak{h}(s) \times \mathfrak{h})^{H(s) \times G} \xrightarrow{CW} \mathcal{H}_{H(s)}^{\infty}(\mathfrak{h}(s), B^{s})$$

Applying this proposition and the Berline-Vergne formula [10], we get:

Corollary 4.14. Let $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$ small enough. We have the following equality in $H(B^s, d_X)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M|B}}(\tilde{A}), X) = \int_{TF^{s}} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\sigma(A), X, \Theta(X)) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(TF^{s}, X, \Theta(X))}{D(\mathcal{N}(F^{s}, F), X, \Theta(X))}.$$

Proof. By Corollary 4.12, we know that

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\tilde{A}), X) = \operatorname{Ch}_s(\mu_P(\operatorname{Ind}_{G\times H}^F(A)), X).$$

By Proposition 4.13, it follows that:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\tilde{A}), X) = CW(\operatorname{Ind}_{G\times H}^F(A))(X).$$

So we get the result by applying the Berline-Vergne formula [10] to $\operatorname{Ind}_{G\times H}^F(A)$.

Let $s \in H$. We have $T^VM = P \times_G TF$ and $T^VM^s = P^s \times_G TF^s$ because the action of H commutes with the action of G. Denote by $\mathcal{N}(F^s, F)$ the normal bundle of F^s in F. The vertical part of the normal bundle $M^s = P^s \times_G F^s$ in M is given by $\mathcal{N}(M^s, M) \cap T^VM = P^s \times_G \mathcal{N}(F^s, F)$. Denote by $p_1 : P^s \times F^s \to P^s$ and $p_2 : P^s \times F^s \to F^s$ the projections. The 1-form $p_1^*\theta$ is a connection on $P \times F \to P \times_G F$ which restrict to a connection on $P^s \times F^s \to P^s \times_G F^s$. We denote by $CW_{P^s \times F^s}$ the Chern-Weyl isomorphism associated to the bundle $P^s \times H^s \to P^s \times_G F^s$. We have:

Proposition 4.15. We have the following equalities:

1.
$$\hat{A}(P^s \times_G TF^s, X) = p_2^* \hat{A}(TF^s, X, p_1^* \Theta(X));$$

2.
$$D(\mathcal{N}(M^s, M) \cap T^V M, X) = p_2^* D(\mathcal{N}(F^s, F), X, p_1^* \Theta(X));$$

3.
$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma(\tilde{A}), X) = p_2^* \operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma(A), X, p_1^* \Theta(X)).$$

Proof. We only give the details of the proof of the first equality. Assertions 2 and 3 can be shown in the same way.

We have:

$$\hat{A}(P^s \times_G TF^s, X) = CW_{P^s \times F^s} \Big(\hat{A}(P^s \times TF^s, -, -) \Big) (X).$$

As $P^s \times TF^s$ is the pullback by p_2 of TF^s , we obtain:

$$\hat{A}(P^s \times_G TF^s, X) = CW_{P^s \times F^s} \Big(p_2^* \hat{A}(TF^s, -, -) \Big) (X).$$

So we get the result by applying the Chern-Weyl isomorphism with the equivariant curvature $p_1^*\Theta(X)$.

We will verify that the formula of index for families coincides with the formula obtained in Corollary 4.14 by a direct calculation.

Corollary 4.16. Let $X \in \mathfrak{h}(s)$ small enough. We have the following equality in $H(B^s, d_X)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\operatorname{Ind}_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{M}|\mathrm{B}}(\tilde{A}),X) = \int_{TF^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma(A),X,\Theta(X)) \wedge \hat{A}^2(TF^s,X,\Theta(X))}{D(\mathcal{N}(F^s,F),X,\Theta(X))}.$$

Proof. We start by applying Theorem 4.8 to compute the Chern character of $\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(\tilde{A})$. We have:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\operatorname{Ind}_{\operatorname{H}}^{\operatorname{M|B}}(\tilde{A}),X) = \int_{P^s \times_G TF^s|B^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_s(\sigma(\tilde{A}),X) \wedge \hat{A}^2(P^s \times_G TF^s,X)}{D(P^s \times_G \mathcal{N}(F^s,F),X)}.$$

By Proposition 4.15, we get:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{M|B}(\tilde{A}), X) = \int_{P^{s} \times_{G} TF^{s}|B^{s}} \frac{p_{2}^{*} \operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\sigma(A), X, p_{1}^{*} \Theta(X)) \wedge p_{2}^{*} \hat{A}^{2}(TF^{s}, X, p_{1}^{*} \Theta(X))}{p_{2}^{*} D(\mathcal{N}(F^{s}, F), X, p_{1}^{*} \Theta(X))}.$$

Denoting by $q: P^s \times TF^s \to P^s \times_G TF^s$ the projection, it follows that:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{\operatorname{M|B}}(\tilde{A}), X) = \int_{P^{s} \times TF^{s}|B^{s}} q^{*} \left(\frac{p_{2}^{*} \operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\sigma(A), X, p_{1}^{*} \Theta(X)) \wedge p_{2}^{*} \hat{A}^{2}(TF^{s}, X, p_{1}^{*} \Theta(X))}{p_{2}^{*} D(\mathcal{N}(F^{s}, F), X, p_{1}^{*} \Theta(X))} \right) \\
= \int_{TF^{s}} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\sigma(A), X, \Theta(X)) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(TF^{s}, X, \Theta(X))}{D(\mathcal{N}(F^{s}, F), X, \Theta(X))}.$$

5 Berline-Vergne formula for a G-transversally elliptic family

This section is an application of the cohomological formula of section 3. We use the Berline-Vergne formula [11] and more precisely the Paradan-Vergne approach from [25] to show a similar result for families. We assume in this section that G acts trivially on B.

5.1 Vertical deformation of the Chern character

The Liouville 1-form on T^*M allows to define by restriction a "vertical Liouville 1-form". More precisely, let us fix a riemannian metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on M. Then we can write $TM = T^VM \oplus p^*TB$. Let $\pi: T^*M \to M$ be the projection, let $j: T^*M \to T^VM^*$ be the dual map to the inclusion $i: T^VM \hookrightarrow TM$ and let $\phi: T^*M \to TM$ be the isomorphism given by the metric on M and let $\phi_{|T^VM}: T^VM^* \to T^VM$ be the induced isomorphism. Denote by $r = \phi^{-1} \circ i \circ \phi_{|T^VM}$ and $k = r \circ j$. The Liouville 1-form ω on T^*M is the 1-form defined by $\langle \omega(\xi), \zeta \rangle = \langle \xi, T\pi(\zeta) \rangle$, where $\xi \in T^*M$, $\zeta \in T_{\xi}(T^*M)$ and $\pi: T^*M \to M$ is the projection. As before let G be a compact Lie group and $p: M \to B$ a G-equivariant fibration of compact manifolds. Assume B oriented.

Lemma 5.1. Let ω be the Liouville 1-form on T^*M . The 1-form $k^*\omega$ is G-invariant and the subspace $C_{k^*\omega}$ of T^*M is equal to $C_{\omega} = T_G^*M$.

Proof. The 1-form $k^*\omega$ is G-invariant because k is G-equivariant. Let $\xi \in T^*M$ and $v \in T_{\xi}(T^*M)$. We have:

$$\langle (k^*\omega)_{\xi}, v \rangle = \langle \omega_{k(\xi)}, T_{\xi}k(v) \rangle = \langle k(\xi), T_{k(\xi)}\pi \circ T_{\xi}k(v) \rangle.$$

Furthermore, we have the equality $\pi \circ k = \pi$ so we get:

$$\langle k^*\omega, v \rangle = \langle k(\xi), T\pi(v) \rangle.$$

Now if $v = X_{T^*M}^*(\xi)$ is given by an element $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ then $T\pi(v) = X_M^*(\pi(\xi))$ is a vertical vector, that is $T\pi(v) \in T_{\pi(\xi)}^V M$ so $\langle k^*\omega, v \rangle = \langle \omega, X_{T^*M}^*(\xi) \rangle$ since the horizontal part of ξ vanish on the vertical vectors. So we get that $C_{k^*\omega}$ is equal to C_{ω} .

Corollary 5.2. The Chern character in $\mathcal{H}_G^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{g}, T^*M)$ defined using the Liouville 1-form ω is equal to the Chern character defined using the vertical Liouville 1-form $k^*\omega$.

Proof. By Theorem 3.19 of [24] (see also Theorem 2.9), we know that if $\sigma_{\tau}: E^{+} \to E^{-}$ is a family of smooth G-invariant morphisms and λ_{τ} a family of G-invariant 1-forms such that $C_{\lambda_{\tau},\sigma_{\tau}} \subset F$, for $\tau \in [0,1]$ and F a closed subspace of $T^{*}M$, then all the classes $\operatorname{Ch}_{\sup}(\sigma_{\tau},\lambda_{\tau})$ coincide in $\mathcal{H}_{F}^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{g},N)$. We take for σ_{τ} the constant family of morphisms and for λ_{τ} the family of 1-forms $\tau\omega + (1-\tau)k^{*}\omega$. Note that the family λ_{τ} is G-equivariant. We have for $v \in T_{\xi}(T^{*}M)$:

$$\langle \lambda_{\tau}, v \rangle = \tau \langle \xi, T\pi(v) \rangle + (1 - \tau) \langle k(\xi), T\pi(v) \rangle$$

so if v is given by an element $X \in \mathfrak{g}$ then $\langle \lambda_{\tau}, v \rangle = 0$ if $\xi \in T_G^*M$. We get that $C_{\lambda_{\tau}} = C_{\omega} = C_{k^*\omega}$ which completes the proof.

Lemma 5.3. Let ω be the Liouville 1-form on T^*M . The 1-form $r^*\omega$ is G-invariant and the subspace $C_{r^*\omega}$ of T^VM^* is equal to $T_G^VM^*$.

Remark 5.4. The 1-form $r^*\omega$ is the restriction of ω to T^VM^* that we see as a submanifold of T^*M using the metric.

Proof. The 1-form $r^*\omega$ is G-invariant because r is G-equivariant. Let $\xi \in T^VM^*$. Let $v \in T_\xi(T^VM^*)$. We have:

$$\langle r^*\omega, v \rangle = \langle \omega_{r(\xi)}, Tk(v) \rangle = \langle r(\xi), T\pi \circ Tr(v) \rangle = \langle \xi, T\pi(v) \rangle.$$

because r is the inclusion of T^VM^* in T^*M and $\pi \circ r$ is the projection π restricted to T^VM^* . From this we deduce that the map $f_{r^*\omega}: T^VM^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ is zero if $\xi \in T^V_GM^*$.

5.2 Berline-Vergne formula

We begin by recalling the cohomological formula from [25] for a G-transversally elliptic operator. We will deduce from this formula, with the help of a Kasparov product, the formula for a family of G-transversally elliptic operators. We denote by ω_s the Liouville 1-form on T^*M^s and we use the notation of the previous section.

Theorem 5.5 ([25], Theorem 3.18). Let σ be a symbol of G-transversally elliptic operator on a compact G-manifold M. Denote for any $s \in G$, by N^s the normal vector bundle to M^s in M. There is a unique G-invariant generalized function on G denoted $\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma])$, such that the following local relations are satisfied:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma])\|_{s}(Y) = (2i\pi)^{-\dim M^{s}} \int_{T^{*}M^{s}} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\mathbb{A}^{\omega_{s}}(\sigma), Y) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(TM^{s}, Y)}{D_{s}(N^{s}, Y)},$$

 $\forall s \in G \text{ and } \forall Y \in \mathfrak{g}(s) \text{ small enough so that the equivariant classes } \hat{A}^2(TM^s,Y) \text{ and } D(N^s,Y)$ are defined. Moreover, the generalized function $\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma])$ only depends on the class of σ in $\operatorname{K}_G(T_G^*M)$.

Furthermore, we have the following theorem which makes the link with the analytical index $\operatorname{Ind}_a^{G,M}$ of Atiyah [1]:

Theorem 5.6 ([25], Theorem 4.1). The previous formulas define a map

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}: \operatorname{K}_{\operatorname{G}}(T_G^*M) \to C^{-\infty}(G)^G$$

and we have:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{a}^{G,M} = \operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}$$

Lemma 5.7. Denote by $j: T^*M \to T^VM^*$ the projection, $r: T^VM^* \hookrightarrow T^*M$ the inclusion induced by the metric and $p: M \to B$ the projection. Let $\sigma \in K_G(T_G^VM^*)$ and $\sigma' \in K(T^*B)$. We have the following equality in $\mathcal{H}_G^{-\infty}(\mathfrak{g}, T^*M^s)$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{\omega_s}(\sigma \otimes p^*\sigma'), Y) = j^*\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega_s}(\sigma), Y) \wedge p^*\operatorname{Ch}(\sigma').$$

Denote by E the super-bundle corresponding to σ and E' the super-bundle corresponding to σ' . In this lemma, \mathbb{A}^{ω_s} means the restriction of a super-connection \mathbb{A}^{ω} on $E \otimes p^*E'$, $\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega_s}$ means the restriction of $\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega}(\sigma) = \mathbb{A} + i(v_{\sigma} + r^*\omega)$, where \mathbb{A} is a super-connection on E and $\mathbb{A}(\sigma') = \mathbb{A}' + iv_{\sigma'}$ where \mathbb{A}' is a super-connection on E'.

Proof. By Corollary 5.2, we have the equality:

$$\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{\omega_s}(\sigma \otimes p^*\sigma'), Y) = \operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{j^*r^*\omega_s}(\sigma \otimes p^*\sigma'), Y).$$

Furthermore, if we consider the product super-connection

$$\mathbb{B} = j^* \mathbb{A} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes p^* \mathbb{A}',$$

then we get:

$$\mathbb{A}^{j^*r^*\omega}(\sigma\otimes p^*\sigma')=j^*(\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega}(\sigma)\otimes 1)+1\otimes p^*(\mathbb{A}'(\sigma')),$$

because $v_{\sigma \otimes p^* \sigma'} = v_{\sigma} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes p^* v_{\sigma'}$. So the equality.

Let now σ be a G-transversally elliptic symbol along the fibers of $p:M\to B$. We defined in Section 3 the Chern character of the index class $\operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\operatorname{M|B}}([\sigma]))$. Moreover, we identified it with an element $\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\operatorname{M|B}}([\sigma])) \in C^{-\infty}(G,H^{2\bullet}(B))^G$ in the Theorem 3.6. We can restrict such element through its associated generalized function because such element is an element of $C^{-\infty}(G)^G\otimes H(B)$.

We can now state our main theorem:

Theorem 5.8. Let σ be a G-transversally elliptic symbol along the fibers of a compact G-equivariant fibration $p: M \to B$ with B oriented and G-trivial. Denote by N^s the normal vector bundle to M^s in M.

1. There is a unique generalized function with values in the cohomology of B denoted $\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}$: $\operatorname{K}_G(T_G^VM) \to C^{-\infty}(G,H(B))^G$ satisfying the following local relations:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma])||_{s}(Y) = (2i\pi)^{-\dim(M^{s}|B)} \int_{T^{V}M^{s}|B} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\mathbb{A}^{r^{*}\omega_{s}}(\sigma), Y) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(T^{V}M^{s}, Y)}{D_{s}(N^{s}, Y)},$$

 $\forall s \in G, \ \forall Y \in \mathfrak{g}(s) \ small \ enough \ such \ that \ the \ equivariant \ classes \ \hat{A}^2(T^VM^s,Y) \ and \ D(N^s,Y) \ are \ defined.$

2. Furthermore, we have the following index formula:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma]) = \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}([\sigma])) \in C^{-\infty}(G,H(B))^G.$$

Proof. Recall that G(s) means the centralizer of s in G and that $\mathfrak{g}(s)$ is its Lie algebra. Denote by $U_s(0) \subset \mathfrak{g}(s)$ a G(s)-invariant neighborhood of 0, such that the \hat{A} -genus $\hat{A}(T^VM^s,Y)$ as well as $\frac{1}{D_s(N^s,Y)}$ are defined on $U_s(0)$. Denote by n_s the dimension of M^s and n the dimension of B. By Theorem 3.6, we have $\text{Ch}(\text{Ind}^{M|B}([\sigma]))||_s(Y) \in \mathcal{H}^{-\infty}_{G(s)}(U_s(0),B) \cong C^{-\infty}(U_s(0))^{G(s)} \otimes H(B)$. To compute $\text{Ch}(\text{Ind}^{M|B}([\sigma]))||_s(Y)$ it is sufficient to pair it with the de Rham homology of B. Moreover, the de Rham homology of B is generated by the range of the Chern character of the K-homology of B. By Corollary 3.5, we know that the pairing of the index class of a family of G-invariant operators which are G-transversally elliptic with an element of the K-homology of B is represented by a G-invariant, G-transversally elliptic operator on G. Let G0 be a symbol on G1 then we can apply Theorem 5.5 to the G-transversally elliptic symbol G2 be a symbol of G3.

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma \odot p^*\sigma'])|_{s}(Y) = (2i\pi)^{-n_s} \int_{T^*M^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\mathbb{A}^{\omega_s}(\sigma \odot p^*\sigma'), Y) \wedge \hat{A}^2(TM^s, Y)}{D_{s}(N^s, Y)}.$$

By Theorem 4.1 we know that $TM^s \cong T^VM^s \oplus p^*TB$ and that N is vertical because the action of G on B is trivial. So we have:

$$\hat{A}(TM^s, Y) = \hat{A}(T^V M^s, Y) \wedge p^* \hat{A}(TB).$$

Moreover, we have $\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{\omega_s}([\sigma \odot p^*\sigma']), Y) = j^*\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega_s}([\sigma]), Y) \wedge p^*\operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{A}([\sigma']))$, where $j: T^*M \to T^VM^*$. So we get

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma \odot p^*\sigma'])(se^Y) = (2i\pi)^{-n_s} \int_{T^*M^s}^{j*\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega_s}(\sigma),Y)\hat{A}^2(T^VM^s,Y)} p^*(\operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{A}(\sigma'))\hat{A}^2(TB)).$$

As B is oriented, we get:

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma\odot p^*\sigma'])(se^Y)$$

$$= \int_{b \in B} (2i\pi)^{-(n_s - n)} \int_{(TM_b)^s} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_s(\mathbb{A}^{r^*\omega_s}([\sigma]), Y) \hat{A}^2(T^V M^s, Y)}{D_s(N^s, Y)} \int_{T_b B} (2i\pi)^{-n} \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{A}([\sigma'])) \hat{A}^2(TB).$$

But, $\int_{TB|B} (2i\pi)^{-n} \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{A}([\sigma'])) \hat{A}^2(TB) = PD(\operatorname{Ch}([P_{\sigma'}]))$ where $[P_{\sigma'}] \in \operatorname{KK}(C(B), \mathbb{C})$ and where $\operatorname{Ch}([P_{\sigma'}])$ is the Chern character of $[P_{\sigma'}]$ in de Rham homology of B and PD is the Poincaré

duality isomorphism $H_{\dim B-\bullet}(B,\mathbb{C})\to H^{\bullet}(B,\mathbb{C})$. So we get that

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma])\|_{s}(Y) = (2i\pi)^{-\dim(M^{s}|B)} \int_{T^{V}M^{s}|B} \frac{\operatorname{Ch}_{s}(\mathbb{A}^{r^{*}\omega_{s}}(\sigma), Y) \wedge \hat{A}^{2}(T^{V}M^{s}, Y)}{D_{s}(N^{s}, Y)},$$

defines an element of $C^{-\infty}(G, H(B))^G = C^{-\infty}(G)^G \otimes H(B)$, since for any $\sigma' \in K(TB)$ the generalized functions $(\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}(\sigma \otimes \sigma')||_s)_s$ define an element of $C^{-\infty}(G)^G$ by Theorem 3.18 of [25]. By Theorem 4.5 of [6], we know that

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{a}^{G,M}([\sigma \odot p^*\sigma']) = \operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}([\sigma]) \otimes_{C(B)} [P_{\sigma'}].$$

We denote by $\mathrm{Ch^{HL}}$ the Chern character in bivariant local cyclic homology [26]. The following diagram is commutative:

$$C^{-\infty}(G, H(B, \mathbb{C}))^G \otimes H_*(B, \mathbb{C}) \xrightarrow{\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle} C^{-\infty}(G)^G$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad$$

From this we deduce that the product $\operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\operatorname{M}|B}([\sigma])) \circ \operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}([P_{\sigma'}])$ becomes via the isomorphism $\operatorname{HL}(C^*G,\mathbb{C}) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}(R(G) \otimes \mathbb{C},\mathbb{C})$:

$$\operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\operatorname{M}|\operatorname{B}}([\sigma])) \circ \operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}([P_{\sigma'}]) \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{a}^{G,M}([\sigma] \otimes p^*[\sigma']).$$

Now, by Theorem 5.6, see [25], we know that $\operatorname{Ind}_{a}^{G,M} = \operatorname{Ind}_{cab}^{G,M}$. So

$$\operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\operatorname{M|B}}([\sigma])) \circ \operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}([P_{\sigma'}]) \cong \operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma] \otimes p^*[\sigma']).$$

As $\operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M}([\sigma] \otimes p^*[\sigma']) = \langle \operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma]), PD(\operatorname{Ch}(P_{[\sigma']})\rangle$, we get by Poincaré duality that

$$\operatorname{Ch}^{\operatorname{HL}}(\operatorname{Ind}^{\operatorname{M}|\operatorname{B}}([\sigma])) \simeq \operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma]).$$

By the identification of Theorem 3.6, we eventually get:

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Ind}^{M|B}([\sigma])) = \operatorname{Ind}_{coh}^{G,M|B}([\sigma]).$$

References

- [1] M.F. Atiyah. Elliptic operators and compact groups. Lecture notes in mathematics. Springer Verlag, 1974.
- [2] M.F. Atiyah and G.B Segal. The index of elliptic operators II. Ann. Math., 87:531–545, 1968.
- [3] M.F. Atiyah and I.M. Singer. The index of elliptic operators I. Ann. Math., 87:546–604, 1968.
- [4] M.F. Atiyah and I.M. Singer. The index of elliptic operators I. Ann. Math., 87:484-530, 1968.
- [5] M.F. Atiyah and I.M. Singer. The index of elliptic operators IV. Ann. Math., 93:119–138, 1971.
- [6] Alexandre Baldare. The index of G-transversally elliptic families in kk-theory. arXiv:1803.11148 [math.KT], 2018.
- [7] M.-T. Benameur. Cyclic cohomology and the family Lefschetz theorem. Math. Ann., 323:97–121, 2002.
- [8] N. Berline, E. Getzler, and M. Vergne. *Heat kernels and Dirac operators*, volume 298. Springer, grundlehen der math. wissenschaft edition, 1991.
- [9] N. Berline and M. Vergne. The equivariant Chern character and index of G-invariant operators. In D-Modules, representation theory and quantum groups, volume 1565. Springer Lectures Notes in Math., 1992.
- [10] Nicole Berline and Michèle Vergne. The equivariant index and Kirillov's character formula. *American Journal of Mathematics*, 107(5):1159–1190, 1985.
- [11] Nicole Berline and Michéle Vergne. L'indice équivariant des opérateurs transversalement elliptiques. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 124(1):51–101, 1996.
- [12] J.-M. Bismut. Localization formulas, superconnections, and the index theorem for families. *Commun. Math. Phys*, 103:127–166, 1986.
- [13] Raoul Bott and Loring W. Tu. *Differential forms in algebraic topology*. Graduate texts in mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1982. Includes index.
- [14] A. Connes and G. Skandalis. The longitudinal index theorem for foliations. Publications RIMS Kyoto Univ, 20:135–179, 1984.
- [15] M. Duflo and M. Vergne. Cohomologie équivariante et descente. Astérisque, 215:5–108, 1993.
- [16] Michel Duflo and Michèle Vergne. Orbites coadjointes et cohomologie équivariante. In *The orbit method in representation theory*, pages 11–60. Springer, 1990.
- [17] V. W. Guillemin and S. Sternberg. Supersymmetry and equivariant de Rham theory. Springer, 1999.
- [18] Michel Hilsum and Georges Skandalis. Morphismes K-orientés d'espaces de feuilles et fonctorialité en théorie de Kasparov (d'après une conjecture d'A. Connes). 20(3):325–390, 1987.
- [19] Shoshichi Kobayashi. Fixed points of isometries. Nagoya Math. J., 13:63–68, 1958.
- [20] Shrawan Kumar and Michele Vergne. Equivariant cohomology with generalized coefficients. *Astérisque*, 215:109–204, 1993.
- [21] Eckhard Meinrenken. Equivariant cohomology and the Cartan model. *Encyclopedia of mathematical physics*, pages 242–250, 2006.
- [22] Ralf Meyer. Comparisons between periodic, analytic and local cyclic cohomology. arXiv preprint math/0205276, 2002.
- [23] TOSHIKAZU NATSUME and RYSZARD NEST. THE CYCLIC COHOMOLOGY OF COMPACT LIE GROUPS AND THE DIRECT SUM FORMULA. *Journal of Operator Theory*, 23(1):43–50, 1990.

- [24] Paul-Emile Paradan and Michele Vergne. Equivariant Chern characters with generalized coefficients. arXiv preprint arXiv:0801.2822, 2008.
- [25] Paul-Emile Paradan and Michele Vergne. Index of transversally elliptic operators. $arXiv\ preprint\ arXiv:0804.1225,\ 2008.$
- [26] Michael Puschnigg. Diffeotopy functors of ind-algebras and local cyclic cohomology. Doc. Math, 8:143–245, 2003.
- [27] Jonathan Rosenberg, Claude Schochet, et al. The künneth theorem and the universal coefficient theorem for Kasparov's generalized K-functor. Duke Mathematical Journal, 55(2):431–474, 1987.